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Complaint for Injunctive Relief 

detailed in the Notice of Violations and Intent to File Suit dated October 23, 2009 (hereafter,

“CWA NOTICE”) made part of this pleading and attached hereto as Exhibit A.

2. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are routinely violating the CWA by violating

the prohibition against discharging pollutants to a Water of the United States without a NPDES

permit, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), CWA §301(a).

3. DEFENDANTS own and/or operate the Dry Creek General Store (hereafter, “the Store”),

located at 3495 Dry Creek Road, Healdsburg California.  The Store’s septic system leach lines

are located 23 feet from Dry Creek at their closest point, in violation of Sonoma County

regulations. When the current owner, Defendant Gina Gallo, purchased the Store in 2002, it was

disclosed by the seller that the leach lines were failing.  No action has been taken by

DEFENDANTS from time of purchase to the present to repair or relocate the damaged leach

lines.  During the year 2009 it was determined by the Sonoma County Permit and Resources

Management Department (hereinafter, “PRMD”), that  DEFENDANTS’ failing septic system

was the source of sewage discovered on the ground on the neighboring property at 3475 Dry

Creek Road. The Store’s defective leach lines have been an ongoing source of discharge of

sewage into Dry Creek, both from the runoff of surface discharges and from underground

sewage discharges into the Dry Creek via groundwater, since at least 2002. Since the time the

determination was made that the Store’s septic system is the source of the sewage discharge,

DEFENDANTS have been pumping the Store’s septic tank on a daily or alternate daily basis to

stop the sewage discharge onto the surface of the ground. This is merely an interim solution.

Without a viable long term solution there is the highest degree of likelihood that ongoing

discharges will resume.  DEFENDANTS’ pumping operation creates a nuisance in the form of

odors and noise.

4. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS are also routinely violating the Basin Plan,

Environmental Protection Agency (hereafter, “EPA”)  regulations codified in the Code of

Federal Regulations, and toxics standards promulgated by the State Water Resources Control

Board in the course of DEFENDANTS’ operation  of their septic system, as described in the

CWA NOTICE.
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5. Under 33 U.S.C. § 1251(e), Congress declared its goals and policies with regard to public

participation in the enforcement of the CWA.  33 U.S.C. §1251(e) provides, in pertinent part:

Public participation in the development, revision, and enforcement of any regulation,

standard, effluent limitation, plan or program established by the Administrator or any State

under this chapter shall be provided for, encouraged, and assisted by the Administrator and the

States. 

6. RIVER WATCH alleges DEFENDANTS illegally discharge to waters which are habitat

for threatened or endangered species as that term is defined by the California EPA and the

United States EPA.

7. RIVER WATCH seeks declaratory relief, injunctive relief to prohibit future violations,

the imposition of civil penalties, and other relief for DEFENDANTS' violations of  33 U.S.C.

§ 1311(a), CWA §301(a).

II.   PARTIES

8. PLAINTIFF, NORTHERN CALIFORNIA RIVER WATCH, is a 501(c)(3) non-profit

public benefit corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of California, with

headquarters and main office located at 500 North main Street, Suite 110, Sebastopol, California.

PLAINTIFF is dedicated to protect, enhance and help restore the surface and subsurface waters

of Northern California.  Its members live in Northern California including the City of

Healdsburg, where the Store is located.

9. Members of RIVER WATCH live nearby to waters affected by DEFENDANTS’ illegal

discharges.  Said members have interests in the watersheds identified in this Complaint, which

interests are or may be adversely affected by DEFENDANTS’ violations of the CWA as alleged

herein.  Said members use the effected waters and effected watershed areas for domestic water,

recreation, sports, fishing, swimming, hiking, photography, nature walks, religious, spiritual and

shamanic practices, and the like.  Furthermore, the relief sought will redress the injury in fact,

likelihood of future injury and interference with the interests of said members.
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10. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and on such information and belief allege that

Defendant DRY CREEK GENERAL STORE, LLC is a limited liability company formed under

Section 17000 et. sec. of the California Corporations Code, located at 3495 Dry Creek Road,

Healdsburg California.

11. DEFENDANTS DOES 1 - 10, Inclusive, respectively, are persons, partnerships,

corporations and entities, who are, or were, responsible for, or in some way contributed to, the

violations which are the subject of this Complaint or are, or were, responsible for the

maintenance, supervision, management, operations, or insurance coverage of the Store.  The

names, identities, capacities, and functions of DEFENDANTS DOES 1 - 10, Inclusive are

presently unknown to RIVER WATCH , who  shall seek leave of court to amend this Complaint

to insert the true names of said DOES Defendants when the same have been ascertained.

III.  JURISDICTIONAL ALLEGATIONS

12. Subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by CWA §  505(a)(1), 33 U.S.C.

§ 1365(a)(1), which states in part that, “any citizen may commence a civil action on his own

behalf against any person . . . .who is alleged to be in violation of (A) an effluent standard or

limitation . . . . or (B) an order issued by the Administrator or a State with respect to such a

standard or limitation.”  For purposes of CWA § 505, “the term ‘citizen’ means a person or

persons having an interest which is or may be adversely affected.”

13. Members and supporters of RIVER WATCH  reside in the vicinity of, derive livelihoods

from, own property near, and/or recreate on, in or near and/or otherwise use, enjoy and benefit

from the waterways and associated natural resources into which DEFENDANTS discharge

pollutants, or by which DEFENDANTS’ operations at the Store adversely affect their interests,

in violation of the CWA § 301(a), 33 U.S.C.§1311(a), CWA § 505(a)(1),  33 U.S.C.§ 1365(a)(1),

and CWA § 402, 33 U.S.C.§ 1342.  The health, economic, recreational, aesthetic and

environmental interests of RIVER WATCH and its members may be, have been, are being, and

will continue to be adversely affected by DEFENDANTS’ unlawful violations of the CWA as

alleged in this Complaint.  RIVER WATCH and its members contend there exists an injury in
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V.   STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND

20. CWA § 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the discharge of pollutants from a “point

source” into the navigable waters of the United States unless such discharge is in compliance

with applicable effluent limitations as set by the EPA and the applicable State agency.  These

limits are to be incorporated into a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System or

“NPDES” permit for that point source specifically. The effluent discharge standards or

limitations specified in a NPDES Permit define the scope of the authorized exception to 33

U.S.C. § 1311(a) , such that violation of a permit limit places a polluter in violation of  33 U.S.C.

§ 1311(a) and thus in violation of the CWA.  Additional sets of regulations are set forth in the

Basin Plan, California Toxics Plan, the Code of Federal Regulations and other regulations

promulgated by the EPA and the State Water Resources Control Board.   CWA § 301(a)

prohibits discharges of pollutants or activities not authorized by, or in violation of an effluent

standard or limitation or an order issued by the EPA or a State with respect to such a standard

or limitation including a NPDES permit issued pursuant to CWA § 402,  33 U.S.C. § 1342.  The

septic system and leach lines owned and operated by DEFENDANTS at the Store are point

sources under the CWA.

21. The affected waterways detailed in this Complaint and in the CWA NOTICE are

navigable waters of the United States within the meaning of CWA § 502(7), 33 U.S.C. §

1362(7).

22. The Administrator of the EPA has authorized the Regional Water Quality Control Board

to issue NPDES permits, subject to specified conditions and requirements, pursuant to CWA §

402, CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

23. DEFENDANTS have no NPDES permit authorizing their discharge of pollutants from

the Store to the affected waterways detailed in this Complaint and in the CWA NOTICE.

VI.   DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATIONS OF THE CWA

24. DEFENDANTS’ discharges of pollutants to waters of the United States without a NPDES

permit, as detailed in the CWA NOTICE, are violations of  Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33
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U.S.C. § 1311(a)  The violations are established in Sonoma County PRMD Files for

DEFENDANTS’ septic system.

25. The enumerated violations are detailed in the CWA NOTICE and below, designating the

section of the CWA violated by the described activity. 

26. The location of the discharges are the discharges points as described in the CWA

NOTICE.

VII.   CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of 33 U.S.C. §  1251 et seq., 33 U.S.C. §§ 1342 (a) and (b),  33 U.S.C. § 1311
Discharge of Pollutants from Point Sources to Waters of the United States in Violation of
Provisions in Order No. R2-2004-0093, NPDES Permit No. CA0037958

RIVER WATCH  realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs

1 through 26, including EXHIBIT A as though fully set forth herein. 

27. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and on such information and belief alleges that

DEFENDANTS have violated and continue to violate the CWA as evidenced by the discharges

of pollutants from a point source, the Store, without a NPDES permit, in violation of CWA §

301, 33 U.S.C. § 1311.

28. RIVER WATCH is informed and believes and on such information and belief alleges

that the violations of DEFENDANTS are ongoing and will continue after the filing of this

Complaint.  RIVER WATCH  alleges herein all violations which may have occurred or will

occur prior to trial, but for which data may not have been available or submitted or apparent from

the face of the reports or data submitted by DEFENDANTS to the Sonoma County PRMD or

to RIVER WATCH  prior to the filing of this Complaint.  RIVER WATCH will amend this

Complaint if necessary to address DEFENDANTS'  State and Federal violations which may

occur after the filing of this Complaint.  Each of DEFENDANTS' violations is a separate

violation of the CWA.

29. RIVER WATCH avers and believes and on such belief alleges that without the imposition

of appropriate civil penalties and the issuance of appropriate equitable relief,  DEFENDANTS

will continue to violate the CWA as well as State and Federal standards with respect to the
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